# Crestron **IM-RX1 & IM-RX3** <u>iMedia Receiver/Processor</u> Operations & Installation Guide



This document was prepared and written by the Technical Documentation department at:



Crestron Electronics, Inc. 15 Volvo Drive Rockleigh, NJ 07647 1-888-CRESTRON

# Contents

iMedia Receiver/Processor: IM-RX1 & IM-RX3	1
Introduction	1
Features and Functions	1
The iMedia System	2
Specifications	4
Physical Description	6
Industry Compliance	11
Setup	11
Network Wiring	11
Mounting	11
Hardware Hookup	12
Accessories (Available Separately)	13
System Configuration	14
Earliest Version Software Requirements for the PC	14
iMedia Wizard Configuration	15
Problem Solving	
Troubleshooting	
Further Inquiries	
Future Updates	30
Return and Warranty Policies	
Merchandise Returns / Repair Service	
CRESTRON Limited Warranty	31

# iMedia Receiver/Processor: IM-RX1 & IM-RX3

# Introduction

## **Features and Functions**

The IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 are part of the Crestron<sup>®</sup> iMedia line of network devices, room control systems and signal routing solutions. The Instant Media (IM) devices currently include two receivers, IM-RX1 and IM-RX3, and three transmitters, IM-WCC, IM-TCC, and IM-FTCC-B. The IM-RX1 has one IM input, and the IM-RX3 has three IM inputs.

#### **NOTE:** The IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 are not Cresnet<sup>®</sup> devices.

#### Functional Summary

- One RS-232 COM port
- One Computer port for configuration
- One IR port
- Four digital inputs for sensors
- Two relay outputs for screen and/or lift control
- A 10/100 Ethernet LAN port
- A Built-in web server
- Power supply module included (18V @ 3A)
- One RGBHV output
- One stereo audio balanced/unbalanced line level output
- Frequency compensation adjustment(s)
- Volume control with bass/treble/balance (single bass/treble/balance control for all three inputs on IM-RMX3)
- 20 W amplifier speaker outputs (10W per channel, into 8 Ohms only)

This device employs iMedia (IM) technology, which utilizes a single CresCAT-IM cable to transmit computer RGB and stereo audio signals to a single projector or plasma display. The IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 provide a frequency compensation adjustment that enables the transmission of a typical XGA signal (1024 X 768 pixels at 60Hz) up to 84 feet. Higher resolutions up to 1600 x 1200 can be handled over shorter distances. Audio is transmitted digitally at a 20-bit, 48 kHz resolution. The IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 are designed to mount at the projector or plasma display to provide local display control, LAN connectivity, and signal management.

# The iMedia System

Through Crestron's exclusive IM port, the IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 decodes the media, linking computer video (RGBHV) to the display device from IM wall units, table units or flip top centers. Stereo program audio is delivered to a built-in 20-Watt (2 X 10 W) amplifier or line-level balanced/unbalanced output. Onboard professional digital audio processing provides volume, balance, treble and bass control.

The power for the remote transmitter(s) is provided from the IM-RX1 or IM-RX3 receiver over the audio circuit of the UTP cable, allowing for a one-cable solution that connects the receiver with the remote source(s).

Routing CresCAT-IM cable is less expensive and much simpler than routing multi-colored, multi-conductor coax cable. All Crestron products using the iMedia transport system are capable of sending and receiving iMedia signals via CresCAT-IM cable. Installation of any iMedia device is as simple as installing one set of iMedia wires from output to input. Installations are flexible, affordable, and fast.

Up to three iMedia transmitters can be installed in an iMedia system. Pressing the SELECT button on any iMedia transmitter makes that input active, overriding the previously selected input. Holding the SELECT button for five seconds powers down the system.

The pin assignment is based on the EIA/TIA 568B RJ-45 Jack standard.

To determine which pin is number 1, hold the cable so that the end of the eight pin modular jack is facing you, with clip down and copper side up. When looking down at the copper connections, pin 1 is on the far right.

RJ-45 Male Connector	RJ-45 Pin Number	Wire Colors	iMedia Assignment RGB and Audio
	1	White/Orange	- RGB Red
	2	Orange	+ RGB Red
	3	White/Green	- RGB Green
	4	Blue	+ Audio/Power
Pin 1	5	White/Blue	- Audio/Power
	6	Green	+ RGB Green
	7	White/Brown	- RGB Blue
	8	Brown	+ RGB Blue

iMedia Pin Assignment



#### Audio

Two amplified outputs providing up to 20 W of audio power (10 W per channel into 8  $\Omega$  speakers only) are also included. Line level balanced/unbalanced outputs are also included for connection to an external amplifier. The amplifier and line level outputs are volume controlled.

## **Display Device**

The display device (e.g., projector) can be addressed via the COM or IR port for control. On/off discrete power switching commands are available from the extensive database.

## Screen and Lift Control

Screen and projector lift control are included. You can choose from the extensive database of manufacturers or design an interface for a particular serial device. Two 2-pin isolated relay connectors are provided.

## Room Sensor and RoomView™

The room options allow you to link your iMedia system with Crestron's RoomView software, and allow you to include an XPanel interface for remote administration. Four digital inputs are provided.

## Video Resolution and Cable Length

The receiver can accomplish frequency compensation on each input to achieve correct operation. This compensation scheme is effective for Crestron Certified Wiring as long as the maximum skew of 15 nanoseconds per 100 meters is not exceeded. Refer to the following table.

RESOLUTION	REFRESH RATE (HZ)	PIXEL RATE (MHZ)	PIXEL TIME (NS)	MAX LENGTH (FEET)
VGA	60	25.18	39.7	218.5
(640 X 480)	72	31.50	31.7	174.6
	85	36.00	27.8	152.8
SVGA	56	36.00	27.8	152.8
(800 X 600)	72	50.00	20.0	110.0
	85	56.25	17.8	97.8
XGA	60	65.00	15.4	84.6
(1024 X 768)	70	75.00	13.3	73.3
	85	94.50	10.6	58.2
SXGA	60	108.00	9.3	50.9
(1280 X 1024)	75	135.00	7.4	40.7
	85	157.50	6.3	34.9
UXGA	60	162.00	6.2	34.0
(1600 X 1200)	70	189.00	5.3	29.1
	85	229.50	4.4	24.0

Maximum	Resolution	and	Cable	Length	
	nesonnon		cuoic	Dengin	۲

# **Specifications**

Specifications for the IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 are given in the following table.

IM-RX1/RX3 Specifications

SPECIFICATION	DETAILS
Power Requirements	54 Watts (3A @ 18 VDC) from included power supply (PW-1830RU)
Front Panel Connectors	
iMedia Input(s)	IM-RX1 (1) RJ-45 CAT5E/CAT6 with Peaking Control Adjuster
	IM-RX3 (3) RJ-45 CAT5E/CAT6 with Peaking Control Adjusters
Audio (Line Level)	(1) 5-pin Mini-Terminal Block Connector
Speaker Outputs	(2) 2-Pin Connectors
Rear Panel Connectors	
18 VDC, 3.0A	(1) Power Adaptor Connector
Relay Output	(2) Relay Control Ports
Digital Input	(4) Digital Input Ports
IR	(1) 3.5mm TRS Mini Phone Jack
Computer	(1) RJ-11 Connector
LAN	(1) RJ-45 Ethernet Connector with Link and Activity LEDs
COM	(1) DB9 9-Pin Male Connector
RGBHV	(1) Female DB15HD Connector
Ground	(1) Ground Terminal

Continued on the following page

SPECIFICATION	DETAILS
Video Formats	RGBHV (VGA), RGBS, RGsB
RGB Video	R/G/B: 0 dB (Unity gain, 75 Ω termination), for 1.0 V $_{p-p}$ max input. Input Impedance 75 Ohms.
Gain / Bandwidth	Supports videos up to XGA @ 60 Hz vertical rate with maximum cable length of 84 feet and maximum compensation at receiver. For higher pixel resolutions (up to 1600 X 1200 pixels at 60 Hz vertical rate) refer to the chart on page 3.
H and V Sync	5 V <sub>p-p</sub> max into 1 K Ohm
Audio	
Line Level Output	Maximum balanced output: 4 V <sub>rms</sub> (per channel) Maximum unbalanced output: 2 V <sub>rms</sub> (per channel) Output balanced impedance: 200 $\Omega$ Output unbalanced impedance: 100 $\Omega$ SNR 20 Hz – 20 KHz A-weighted 82 dB THD+N 20 Hz – 20 KHz 0.05% Frequency Response 20Hz – 20 KHz, +/- 0.5 dB
Amplified Audio	10 W maximum per channel into 8 $\Omega$ only (Use of 4 $\Omega$ speakers may cause the amplifier protection to trigger at high volume settings) SNR 20Hz – 20 KHz A-weighted 80 dB THD+N max 20 Hz – 20 KHz 0.7% Frequency Response 20 Hz – 20 KHz, +/- 1 dB
On-Board Memory	16 MB RAM, 4 KB EEPROM 4 MB Flash Memory
Operating Temperature and Humidity	41° to 104° F (5° to 40° C) 10 to 90% relative humidity (non-condensing)
Dimensions and Weight	Width: 8.60 in (21.85 cm) Height: 1.62 in (4.10 cm) Depth: 7.58 in (19.24 cm) Weight: 1.75 lbs (0.80 kg)
Accessories	<ul> <li>(4) Mounting Brackets (included)</li> <li>Pipe Mounting Kit, QM-FTCMK (not included)</li> <li>STIRP - IR Probe (not included)</li> <li>CNXRMCS - Current Sensor (not included)</li> </ul>

|--|

# **Physical Description**

The IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 are housed in metal enclosures, and have ports on the front and rear sides. Refer to the physical views shown below.

IM-RX1 – Front View



IM-RX3 – Front View



IM-RX1 & IM-RX3 – Rear View



Physical Dimensions – Front View IM-RX1



**Physical Dimensions – Front View IM-RX3** 









STRON ELECTRONICS INC., ROCKLEIGH, NJ 07647 USA

0 0

## <u>IM</u>



This eight-pin RJ-45 transport port is the input connection of the iMedia cable. It carries audio and video signals over CresCAT-IM cable from an IM transmitter (such as the IM-FTCC-B, IM-TCC, or IM-WCC).

**NOTE:** Always use CresCAT-IM cable to make iMedia connections. Maximum cable delay skew is 15 nanoseconds per 100 meters.

# 送

Peaking Control

The peaking control is used during setup for video cable length compensation. Refer to "iMedia Wizard Configuration" on page 15 for additional details.



## <u>AUDIO</u>

This 5-pin detachable terminal block audio output connector provides balanced/unbalanced line-level left and right audio for application to an external amplifier.

Maximum line-level output: 4  $V_{\text{RMS}}$  per channel balanced, 2  $V_{\text{RMS}}$  per channel unbalanced.

Output impedance: 200  $\Omega$  balanced, 100  $\Omega$  unbalanced.

## <u>SPEAKER</u>



The left and right speaker connectors (two 2-pin detachable terminal block connectors, 5 mm spacing) provide 20 Watts of amplified audio (10 Watts per channel) into 8  $\Omega$  speakers.

**NOTE:** Use of 4  $\Omega$  speakers may cause the amplifier protection to trigger at high volume settings.

## Ports (Rear)

# 18 VDC, 3 A (Power Supply Input)



This 3-pin, 2 mm connector is used to supply 18 VDC power to the IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 from the external power supply (included).

**CAUTION:** Use only Crestron power supplies for Crestron equipment. Failure to do so could cause equipment damage or void the Crestron warranty.

**NOTE:** Pull back the snap lock of the power supply connector to unlock it from the input when removing the connector.

# Relay Outputs and Digital Inputs

A nine-pin detachable terminal block is provided for relay and digital inputs.

Two 2-pin isolated relay connectors on the left side of this connector are provided for controlling low voltage contact closure devices such as drapes, screens and lifts. Each connector is rated 2 A (a) 50 VDC, MOV arc suppression.

The remaining five pins of this connector provide four software programmable digital inputs plus ground. The inputs are Schmidt trigger type (nominal 2.5 V threshold) with 24 V input tolerance. Digital inputs are rated 0 - 24 VDC, 2K ohms input impedance. Input logic threshold is 2.5 VDC nominal.

## <u>IR</u>

The 3.5 mm TRS mini phone jack is used for controlling display devices via IR. Connects to a STIRP IR emitter probe (sold separately).

Infrared output is rated up to 1.2 MHz.



IR



# COMPUTER

This 6-position RJ-11 mates with a serial port of a PC; connecting cable is not supplied. Use this port for direct connection to the PC to load files. In the event that modular cables or an RJ-11 to DB9F adapter is not available, the diagram and table that follows provide information so that the cable can be fabricated on site. Can be used as the console port.





**NOTE:** If you do not have this cable, you can use a crossover Ethernet cable to communicate with this device.

RS-232 Pinouts			
PIN	DESCRIPTION		1 6
1	CTS	Тор	
2	GND	-	
3	RXD		
4	TXD	I F	
5	RTS	Front	
6	N/C (Not connected)		1 6

NOTE: This cable is the Crestron STCP-502, and is included in the ST-PK programming cable kit.



LAN

An 8-position RJ-45 port (labeled LAN) is used for connection to the Ethernet, providing local area network or Web access (cable is not supplied). Supports 10/100BaseT. The port also contains two light-emitting diodes (LEDs). The green LED on the left side of the port is a link status LED and illuminates when the card is connected to a working network. The yellow LED on the right side flashes to indicate Ethernet activity. Refer to "Set IP Information" on page 25 for the default IP address.



## COM

One DB9 (male) software programmable, bi-directional serial port is available specifically for RS-232 bi-directional communication, with hardware and software handshaking and modem control, and to control the display device. Speeds are rated up to 115,200 bps.

<sup>9</sup> Standard COM DB9 Pinout

PIN	DIRECTION	DESCRIPTION
1	To IM-RX1/3	(DCD) Data Carrier Detect
2	To IM-RX1/3	(RXD) Receive Data
3	From IM-RX1/3	(TXD) Transmit Data
4	From IM-RX1/3	(DTR) Data Terminal Ready
5	Common	(SG) Signal Ground
6	From IM-RX1/3	(DSR) Data Set Ready
7	From IM-RX1/3	(RTS) Request To Send
8	To IM-RX1/3	(CTS) Clear To Send
9	To IM-RX1/3	(RI) Ring Indicator

## <u>RGBHV</u>

RGBHV



This female DB15HD connector is used for connecting RGB video to the display device. Refer to the following table for pin-assignments.

- Maximum input voltage 1 V<sub>p-p</sub>(R/G/B), 5.0 V<sub>p-p</sub>(H/V)
- Input Impedance 75 Ohms (R/G/B), 1 k Ohms (H/V)

#### RGB DB15HD Pin Assignments

PIN	FUNCTION	PIN	FUNCTION
1	Red Video	9	No Connect
2	Green Video	10	Ground
3	Blue Video	11	No Connect
4	Reserved	12	Monitor Sense 1
5	Ground	13	Horizontal Sync
6	Red Ground	14	Vertical Sync
7	Green Ground	15	Monitor Sense 2
8	Blue Ground		

## Indicators

## PWR (Power)

This green LED illuminates when the unit is connected to and receives 18 VDC power from an external power supply.

## <u>INPUT</u>

This red LED indicates digital input port activity of devices connected to these IM input ports.

## <u>IR</u>

This red LED indicates IR port output activity when sending out control commands.

## <u>COM</u>

This red LED indicates COM port activity when sending or receiving commands.

## **Industry Compliance**

As of the date of manufacture, the IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 have been tested and found to comply with specifications for CE marking and standards per EMC and Radiocommunications Compliance Labelling.



**NOTE:** This device complies with part 15 of the FCC rules. Operation is subject to the following two conditions: (1) this device may not cause harmful interference, and (2) this device must accept any interference received, including interference that may cause undesired operation.

# Setup

## **Network Wiring**

**CAUTION:** In order to ensure optimum performance over the full range of your installation topology, Crestron Certified Wire, and only Crestron Certified Wire, should be used. Failure to do so, may incur additional charges if support is required to identify performance deficiencies as a result of using improper wire.

**CAUTION:** Use only Crestron power supplies for Crestron equipment. Failure to do so could cause equipment damage or void the Crestron warranty.

## Mounting

The IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 can be mounted using the included four mounting brackets. Attach the included brackets using the existing cover screws located on the sides of the IM-RX1/IM-RX3 as shown in the following diagram.

Mounting Bracket Locations - Example: IM-RX1



**NOTE:** The MK-QM-RMCRX mounting kit is available for mounting the IM-RX1 or IM-RX3 to a pipe. Details can be found in the latest version of the MK-QM-RMCRX Installation Guide (Doc. 6247), available from the Crestron website (http://www.crestron.com/manuals).

## Hardware Hookup

Refer to the following hookup diagram and, aside from attaching power last, complete the connections in any order.

**NOTE:** To prevent overheating, do not operate this product in an area that exceeds the environmental temperature range listed in the specifications table. Consideration must be given if installed in a closed or multi-unit rack assembly, inside a closed desk, or in a closed podium since the operating ambient temperature of these environments may be greater than the room ambient. Contact with thermal insulating materials should be avoided on all sides of the unit.

**NOTE:** The maximum continuous current from equipment under any external load conditions shall not exceed a current limit that is suitable for the minimum wire gauge used in interconnecting cables. The ratings on the connecting unit's supply input should be considered to prevent overloading the wiring.



**NOTE:** the power supply cable is equipped with a snap lock connector. Always disconnect the power cable by pulling back on the snap lock of the connector. Never pull the power cable by the cord.



# Accessories (Available Separately)

The STIRP contains an infrared (IR) LED housed in a miniature, mouse-shaped, black, injection molded plastic shell. The STIRP shell emits IR control signals sent to it by the control processor. The shell can be installed directly on the IR

#### Operations & Installation Guide – DOC. 6384 iMedia Receiver/Processor: IM-RX1 & IM-RX3 • 13

sensor window of the controlled device or at a nearby suitable location, while the other end plugs into the IR output port. For additional information, refer to the latest version of "Infrared Emitter" (Doc. 5674).

The CNXRMCS provides true power status feedback (on or off) for high power AC devices such as TV monitors and video projectors. It contains an AC plug on one side and an AC outlet on the other, along with a cable that attaches to the digital input of the IM-RX1 or IM-RX3. For additional information, refer to the latest version of "Current Sensor for Room Solution Boxes" (Doc. 8175).

# System Configuration

#### Have a question or comment about Crestron software?

Answers to frequently asked questions (FAQs) can be viewed in the Online Help section of the Crestron website. To post a question or view questions you have submitted to Crestron's True Blue Support, log in at http://support.crestron.com. First-time users will need to establish a user account.

The iMedia system is configured with an easy to use wizard tool that consists of nine simple steps. The wizard utilizes several other programs that run in the background and are unseen and inaccessible.

# Earliest Version Software Requirements for the PC

**NOTE:** Crestron recommends that you use the latest software to take advantage of the most recently released features. The latest software is available from the Crestron website

**NOTE:** Crestron software and any files on the website are for Authorized Crestron dealers and Crestron Authorized Independent Programmers (CAIP) only. New users are required to register to obtain access to certain areas of the site (including the FTP site).

The following are the earliest useable software version requirements for the PC:

- iMedia Wizard version 2.0 or later (included with SystemBuilder 2.0).
- SystemBuilder version 2.0 or later.
- SystemBuilder Touchpanel Templates version 2.0 or later.
- SIMPL Windows version 2.06.20 or later. Library 345 and SIMPL+ Cross Compiler version 1.1 are required.
- Crestron Database version 17.2.0 or later. Required by SIMPL Windows.
- Crestron Toolbox version 1.1.2 or later.
- Crestron RoomView version 6.0 or later (only required if using RoomView)
- VT Pro-e version 3.3.3.5 or later

**NOTE:** All configuration is completed within the iMedia wizard only. This system cannot be configured in SystemBuilder or SIMPL Windows.

**NOTE:** For additional programming information, refer to the iMedia Wizard help file.

## iMedia Wizard Configuration

The iMedia wizard provides a step-by-step programming tool that covers all iMedia system possibilities.

#### Start

The opening screen links to a preview image of the system. There is no data entry in this step.

"Start" Window



## Name And Location

Enter the system name and choose the folder in which the files will be saved. A default name and location are provided, click **Next** to accept the defaults or use the **Browse** button to navigate to a desired location. The processor selection is automatic; depending on how many IM transmitters are added in a later step.

"Name and Location" Window

🎢 iMedia	X
Start	Name & Location
Name and Location	
Display Device	What is the name for your System?
Power Control	System Name: My iMedia System
Power On/Off Lockout	
Display Options	Where do you want to save your System?
iMedia Transmitters	System Location:
Room Options	C. Creston systeme ulder systems wy imedia systems
Finish	
	Browse
Help 🎇	Back Next > Einish

## **Display Device**

The display device driver is the most important piece of information required to get a system running. You can choose the display device driver from the Crestron or User database. The driver will be added to the appropriate serial or IR port automatically.

Once a driver is selected, a dropdown list is presented which allows the user to select the command that switches the display device to the RGB or PC input. Since IM only supports this one video type it is important that the display device is always set to this input.



🎢 iMedia	<u>×</u>
Start	Display Device
Name and Location Display Device Power Control Power On/Off Lockout Display Options i <sup>M</sup> edia Transmitters Room Options	This step will configure the display device for the room. Display Device Requirements Display Device Description: HP xp8010 ID Assignment: Slot 03 C2HMRX-COM1-232 COM A Properties Switching Command Select discrete switching command for RGB video input. RGB Input: Imput_VGA1
Help 🔀	R C C Rack Next > Einish

**NOTE:** When some display devices are selected, an additional **Properties** button will appear that permits access to a general properties page, the I/O assignment (serial address settings), and particular properties (ex. poll settings).

"Display Device Properties" Window

	-	
Display Device I	Properties	×
General 1/0	Assignment Properties	
<b>1</b>	Display Device	
Manufacturer:	HP	
Model:	xp8010	
File: 🧿	HP xp8010 Projector v1_1.cmc	
Location:	🚺 Equipment Room	
Button Text:	Projector	
Template:	🔽 Add Panel Pages	
	Video-Data Projector with Tech Setup	
Notes:		
<u>H</u> elp	<u>0</u> K <u>C</u> ano	el 🛛

#### **Power Control**

The "Power Control" window allows you to determine how the display device will be turned on and off.

"Power Control" Window



You can select from one of the following options.

- Discrete: This is the recommended setting, as the display device should provide discrete commands for turning power on and off. The Wizard will attempt to find the standard power commands. If the Wizard cannot find the standard commands they will be unassigned, and you must select the commands from the lists. Do not use this setting if the device only provides a toggle power command.
- Power Sensing: Use this setting if the device only has one toggle power command. The system will send commands to toggle the power on and off, depending on the power state of the display device. This option requires a Crestron CNXRMCS power sensor, which uses a digital input to report the power state of the display device. The power sensor plugs in into the AC wall outlet and the display device plugs into the power sensor. The CNXRMCS sensor provides a digital closure when the current is sensed.
- None: The device will be turned on and off manually by the end user (not recommended).

#### Power On/Off Lockout

Normally this is only needed for projectors since they may have a warm-up and/or cool-down time. The lockout period is the minimum time allowed between sending Power On and Power Off commands to prevent damage to the projector bulb. Your display device should support discrete Power On and Power Off commands. This ensures that the display device remains in sync with the iMedia system's power state.

#### "Power Lockout" Window

🗡 iMedia	
Start	Power Lockout
Name and Location Display	
Device Power Control	Power On/Off Lockout
Power On/Off Lockout	Locks the system for the specified duration to allow the display device to warm-up and/or cool-down.
Display Options	Power Un Lockout for 30 seconds
Transmitters Room Options	
Finish	
[and	
	Image:

During the lockout period, the power button on the IM origination point is disabled, and any projector lift commands will be locked out. In addition, the system will notify the RoomView help desk of the projector power state (if you enable RoomView monitoring).

You should refer to the manufacturer's documentation to find the recommended cool-down and warm-up time for the display device.

The power lockout values can be set from zero to 999 seconds (approximately 15 minutes). The default values are 30 seconds for the Power On Lockout, and 30 seconds for the Power Off Lockout.

Display devices that do not contain lamps do not typically require a power lockout time. For these devices you can disable the power lockout feature by setting both values to zeros.

#### **Display Options**

These advanced options allow you to add screen and projector lift controls to the iMedia system.

"Display Options" Window



To add screen control, select the **Include Screen Control** check box. To add projector lift control, select the **Include Lift Control** check box. When the checkbox is clicked, the **Choose** button appears. Click the **Choose** button to select a device from the following window.

"Select a Device" Window – Lift Control Example

Select a Device	<b>;</b>		
Sort By C Manufa C Type	icturer	Database ⓒ Crestron ⓒ User	
Туре:	Screen		V
Manufacturer:	(Generic)		- 🔍
Model:	(Generic) DaLite Draper Somfy Vutec		
	<u>0</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel	

You can browse for devices by Manufacturer or Type, from the Crestron or User Databases. If you select the Crestron Database and you are connected to the

Internet, you can click the **Web** button 😵 to go to the manufacturer's website.

The available screen and lift selections in the "Select a Device" window include a predetermined list of database entries for control. There are only two generic relay control entries available in the database for screens and lifts. Depending on the lift or screen model, a momentary closure, sustained closure, or two relays may be required.

"Control	<b>Options</b> "	Window
----------	------------------	--------

Control Options	
This device can be control	olled in more than one way.
Control Type Control Type 2 interlocked LOW-voltage relays (up, d 2 LOW-voltage relays (up, down)	Command File udsrly_int.cmc relay_x2_v1_1.cmc
	Cancel

When you have selected the device click **OK**.

If the specific device you require is not listed, you can right-click a similar serial device and open the "Properties" window. This enables you to design the appropriate interface for your device, based on the manufacturer's specifications.

Serui Device Properties	, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,, ,	
Serial Device Properties		×
General COM Settings Co	ommands Events / Feedback	
1		
Device Family:	🛲 (Generic Audio Source)	
Device Type:	Generic Audio Source	
Manufacturer:	(Generic)	<b>-</b>
	-	
Model:		
Default Template:	🔽 Add Panel Pages	
	(Generic) Blank	
	(denetic) blank	
Help	Cancel	

#### "Serial Device Properties" Window

Select the commands the system will send to the device when the system powers on and powers off. For example, you can select a Power On command such as Screen\_Down. This signifies that when the system powers on the screen will go down.

**Power ON and Power OFF Commands** 

Screen			
Description: Draper Profile			
LO Assignment: Slot 01 C2I-IMRX-IR1 Port A			
When system powers ON send command: DOWN	•		
When system powers OFF send command: 🔲 💷			

You must select commands for power on and power off; otherwise no commands will be sent and the devices will not operate.

#### iMedia Transmitters

In this step you may select up to three transmitters. Depending on how many IM transmitters are added to the system, the appropriate IM-RX1 or IM-RX3 will be selected. An information box displays the system receiver in the system.

Start Name and Location	<b>IM</b> What types of iMedia tr system?	<b>Tra</b>	<b>nsmitt</b> ( do you want for yo	× e <b>rs</b>
Display Device	Converter			
Power Control		IN IN	M-FTCC	
Power On/Off Lockout		[	Description iMedia Wall Plate Compu	uter Center
Display Options			Add to Syste	m
iMedia Transmitters	Delete Label	Туре	Port	
Room Options	Bename Input 2	IM-TCC	IM1 IM2	
Finish		IM-WLL	IM3	
		i Rece	eiver/Processor is IM-	RX3
Help 🇞		< <u>B</u> ack	Next >	Einish

#### "IM Transmitters" Window

#### **Room Options**

The "Room Options" window allows you to link your iMedia system with Crestron's RoomView software, and to include an XPanel interface for remote administration.

"Room Options" Window

🗡 iMedia	X
Start Name and Location Display Device Power Control	Room Options What type of Interface options do you want to include in your system? RoomView Include RoomView Interface Provides help-desk capabilities and centralized room monitoring.
Power On/Off Lockout Display Options iHedia Transmitters Room Options Finish	XPanel         Include XPanel Interface         Provides remote administration capabilities.         Image: Constraint of the project with the following password:         Image: Protect XPanel project with the following password:         Image: Project XPanel Project with the following password:         Image: Project XPanel Project with the following password:
Help 🆄	Sector Se

#### <u>RoomView</u>™

RoomView is Crestron's interactive help desk tool that collects real-time information from control systems via Ethernet, providing facility-wide AV device management, control and diagnostics.

You can select the Include RoomView Interface check box to create an interface to the RoomView help desk. This will automatically connect the appropriate signals for interaction with RoomView, including system on/off, system lockout, lamp life, device theft, and help messages.

To enhance RoomView's scheduling, lockout and interactive features, you can click **Include occupancy sensing**, which adds a motion sensor to the logic program and enables RoomView to monitor room occupancy.

#### <u>XPanel</u>

To enable the XPanel project for remote administration select the **Include XPanel Interface** check box. Administrators can use XPanel to set up the room and audio settings.

The XPanel password restricts access to the XPanel setup pages. Anyone attempting to access the setup pages will be prompted to provide the password.

To set the XPanel password, enter the alphanumeric code into the text field. The password can consist of up to 20 characters.

#### Finish

This last step uploads the configuration and does the last few things required to get the system fully installed.

#### "Finish" Window

🔏 iMedia		×
Start	iMedia	
Name and Location Display Device Power Control	That is all the information this application needs to create your system! Click 'Upload System' your system. Wupload System	
Power On/Off Lockout Display Options	Communication Settings	
iMedia Transmitters Room Options	Audio Settings           Wideo Test Pattern	
Hnish	Export System	0 d
Help 🏷	Einish	

You can use the "Finish" window to:

- Generate the configuration and XPanel project.
- Upload configuration files to the IM-RX receiver.
- Adjust audio settings in real time. (This option is only available if the program has already been uploaded to the processor.)
- Adjust the video signal with the provided video test patterns.
- Generate and print documentation.
- Export system and zip the entire system to an archive.

Before program upload, you have to establish a valid connection to the processor (refer to "Hardware Hookup" on page 12 and "Communication Settings" on page 24). You should also install and connect the iMedia equipment and display device you added to your project.

## Upload System

Before you can upload configuration, you must establish communications. Refer to "Communication Settings" on page 24.

1. Click the **Upload System** button to first generate the XPanel project (if any) and then the control system logic program. The Wizard will display information about each file as it is being generated.

System Creation
Program generation progress
Building Program Structure
Creating SIMPL Windows Program
Compiling Program
Details
Program generation complete.
Progress:
Abort
Program Generation Messages (Dbl-Click for details)
Help

"System Creation" Window

2. Click **Continue** to upload the files to the processor. If the control system has a valid connection (and thus can receive files) both items will be selected.

NOTE: You can double-click an item to view the communication settings.

"Upload Devices" Window

oload Devic	es Devices Devices - Right-c - Click 'U	listed below that are that are not checked lick a list item for opti Ipload' to upload dev	checked are verified ar I are not verified. ions. rices that are checked.	nd ready for upl	oad.	× + +
Name	Туре	Location	Session	Status		
☑IM-BX1	IM-BX1	Equipment Room	rs232 1,0,n,8,1,n,n	Verified		
✓ XPanel	XPanel	Equipment Room	rs232 1,0,n,8,1,n,n	Verified		
Help					Upload	Close

3. Click **Upload** to begin the file transfer.

The Wizard will then begin the file transfer. A progress bar will be displayed as the files are transferred. After transfer the Wizard will display information about each file, including the filename and transfer status.

"Upload Status	" Window
----------------	----------

Transfer Complete				
Always hide this dialog You can hide this dialog, continue your work, and <u>Close</u>				
Status	Name	Message	Total Transfer	
😃 Succeeded 🛛 🛲 IM-RX1		100%		
Cuppended 1	A Xpanel		100%	
Succeeueu				

## Communication Settings

The **Communications Settings** button on the "Finish" window provides access to three additional adjustments areas, Communication Settings, Set IP Information, and Set/Clear XPanel Password.

Communication Set	tings	
Communication Settings		
Set IP Information		
Set/Clear XPanel Password		
1. <del></del>		

#### Communication Settings...

You must establish a valid connection to the IM-RX receiver before you can upload configuration files or XPanel projects. This is accomplished using either a serial (RS-232) or TCP/IP connection.

For RS-232 communication, use a DB9 straight-through serial cable to connect the COMPUTER port on the IM-RX to one of the COM ports on the PC.

For a TCP/IP connection, use Ethernet straight-through cables to connect the PC and the IM-RX1/IM-RX3 to the Ethernet network.

Once your connection is in place, you can click the **Communication Settings...** button on the "Finish" window to open the Address Book and start a session with the IM-RX.

If you have not already done so, you must first add the RS-232 address or the IP address of the receiver to the Address Book.

The Address Book allows you to maintain a list of control systems and network devices. The address book is saved as an .adr file, allowing you to easily share address files with other programmers, edit or remove addresses, and import addresses into an existing Address Book.

You can establish a session with any or all of the devices in the Address Book (provided the PC has a valid connection to the Cresnet/Ethernet network).

Address Book	×	
Current Address C:\Crestron\Toolbox\DefaultAddressBook.adr		
Name         Address           Serial on COM1         rs232 1.0.n.8.1.n.y           WPR-48         rs232 1.115200.n.8.1.n.y           ML-500         rs232 1.115200.n.8.1.n.y           MT-1000         usb;device MT-1000C           MT-500C         rs232 1.115200.n.8.1.n.y;devi           Remote Console To         Serial on COM1:cresnet 03	Open / New         Import           Selected Entry         Connection Type:           C TCP              •             RS232             •             USB             C Indirect           Port              •             COM 1             COM 2             COM 3             COM 4             COM 5             COM 6             COM 7             COM 8            Baud Rate              C 115200             C 57600             C 38400             C 19200             C 300	
	Parity     Data Bits     Stop Bits       Image: None     Image: Eight     Image: One       Image: Construction     Image: Stop Bits     Image: One       Image: Construction     Image: Construction     Image: Construction       Image: Construction     Image: Construction     Image: Construct	
Add Entry (F3) Delete (Del) Rename (F2)	OK Cancel	

#### "Address Book" Window

To open an existing Address Book, click the **Communication Settings** button and select the desired .adr file from the *Current Address* list.

To create a new Address Book, click the **Communication Settings** button on the "Finish" window. Click **Open/New** and type a name for the new Address Book (you can also browse to the directory where you want to save the .adr file) and click **Open**.

To import an Address Book, with the current address book open, click the **Import** button. Locate the .adr file you want to import and click **Open**. This will import the entries into the current address book.

#### Set IP Information...

If you intend to communicate with the IM-RX receiver via Ethernet you have to configure the processor's IP information.

Because this device has a default IP address (192.168.0.99), you can connect directly using a crossover cable then configure the IP settings of the IM-RX1 or IM-RX3 for subsequent connections over Ethernet.

**NOTE:** If more than one IM receiver is on the network, you must change the IP address to avoid a conflict.

Click the **Communication Settings...** button on the Finish screen, then choose the **Set IP Information** command. The "Ethernet Addressing" window appears.

Select the **Enable Ethernet** check box to enable the Ethernet card and view the available IP settings. If you clear (de-select) this check box, the dialog will be grayed out.

**NOTE:** The IM-RX1 and IM-RX3 are preset with the following IP address information.

- IP Address: 192.168.0.99
- IP Mask: 255.255.255.0
- Default Router: 0.0.0.0

#### "Ethernet Addressing" Window

Ethernet Addressing	- rs232 1,0,n,8,1,n,y		×
🔲 Enable Ethernet			
1	Enable DHCP		
IP Address:	192 . 168 . 127 . 142	🗖 Auto-Negotiate	
IP Mask:	255 . 255 . 255 . 0	Speed (MB/sec):	
Default Router:	192 . 128 . 127 . 1	Duplex: 🕩 Full	
	Renew DHCP		
-			
Host Name:			
Domain Name:			
CIP Port:			
CTP Port:			
1	Enable WINS (Requires	DHCP Enabled	
Set Password		OK Cance	el Apply

Use the following instructions to establish the static IP settings.

- 1. Clear (de-select) the Enable DHCP checkbox if set.
- 2. Enter the static IP address and IP mask in the designated address fields. If applicable, enter the default gateway address. (If data will not be routed outside the LAN, the default gateway can be left blank.)
- 3. Enter the host name in the *Host Name* field. The host name identifies the control system on the network and is automatically translated into the numerical IP address. The host name can consist of up to 64 characters. Valid characters are 0 9, A Z (not case-sensitive), and the dash (hyphen character). No other characters are valid. The host name cannot begin with a dash or number.

Given a host name, you can enter this host name instead of the IP address in the address book.

4. The *Domain Name* field is an additional qualifier that some networks may need to resolve the name properly.

Use the following instructions to establish the dynamic IP settings.

- 1. Select the **Enable DHCP** check box to enable DHCP for Windows 2000 Server. Select both the **Enable DHCP** and **Enable WINS** check boxes for Windows NT 4.0 Server. The DHCP server will provide the WINS server address.
- Enter the fully qualified domain name (FQDN) of the IM-RX1 or IM-RX3 into the *Host Name* field. The host name identifies the control system on the network and is automatically translated into the numerical IP address. The hostname can consist of up to 64 characters. Valid characters are 0 – 9, A – Z (not case-sensitive), and the dash (hyphen character). No other characters are valid. The host name cannot begin with a dash or number.
- 3. If applicable, enter the domain into the *Domain Name* field. This is only necessary if you are configuring DHCP on an Ethernet connection to a control system that currently has a static address. The domain name will be used to reconnect to the control system after it reboots. With a serial connection, the domain does not need to be entered. The domain supplied by the DHCP server will overwrite the domain that is indicated in this field.
- 4. To request a new IP address from the DHCP server click the **Renew DHCP** button.
- 5. Click the **Auto-negotiate** check box to enable auto-negotiation. This signifies that the processor will detect the speed of the Ethernet network and automatically adjust to that speed. However, if you know the network settings and you want to set the speed and duplex type explicitly, you can clear the check box and select the speed and duplex type by clicking the radio buttons.
- 6. To restrict access to the control system you can set a TCP/IP password. To do this click the **Set Password** button and enter the password into the text field. Click **OK** to set the password. Valid passwords can be up to 20 characters in length (printable ASCII).

To disable the password, click the **Set Password** button and then click **Disable Password**. Click **Yes** when prompted to confirm. You can always reset the password as described above.

7. **Port**: Enter the CTP and/or CIP port number if not default.

#### Set/Clear XPanel Password

Click **Set Password** on the "Ethernet Addressing" window to enter an XPanel password.

#### "Set Password" Window

Set Password			×
New Password:			
Disable Password	ОК	Cancel	

You can send the XPanel Password settings (specified in the "Room Options" window) to the receiver without re-generating and uploading the entire project.

To update the XPanel password, go to the Finish Screen, click the down arrow next to **Communication Settings** and click **Set/Clear XPanel Password**.

This will display a confirmation message that the password was set or cleared in the receiver, or an error message if the password could not be sent.

The XPanel password is also sent whenever the project is uploaded.

**NOTE:** If you enable the XPanel password (on the "Room Options" window), then when you choose **Set/Clear XPanel Password**, from the communications settings button, the message "XPanel password successfully set...." is displayed. If you did not enable an XPanel password, then when you press **Set/Clear XPanel Password**, the message "XPanel password successfully cleared..." is displayed.

When you are satisfied with the Ethernet addressing, click **OK** to reboot the control system.

#### **Documentation**

The iMedia Wizard allows you to document your project by creating attractive and easy to read reports for presentations or use as a reference during construction and installation.

When you generate a report it is saved as an HTML file in the \Documentation subfolder for your project.

The Bill of Materials is an Excel spreadsheet that lists Crestron hardware such as the iMedia receiver and IM origination points.

You can include prices in the spreadsheet.

1. Download the price list from the Crestron website (http://www.crestron.com/pricelist/usdealer/).

- 2. Enter your email address and password, and then follow the screen instructions to download the price list from the SystemBuilder area. The filename will be pricelist.xml.
- 3. Save the pricelist.xml file in the SystemBuilder | Reports subfolder.

The Connection Sheet lists the network devices that are connected to each slot on the control system.

- 1. Click the **Documentation** button on the Finish screen.
- 2. Select the desired report and click **Create** | **View**. This will launch the default Web browser.
- 3. Use the **Print** button to print the report.

#### Audio Settings

Use the Audio Settings screen to adjust volume, treble, bass and balance in real time. Before starting real-time mode the program should be uploaded to the processor and all iMedia and audio equipment should be installed. If no program has been uploaded the Wizard will attempt build and upload the system.

Use the Bass and Treble sliders to set the bass and treble for audio in the room.

The bass and treble are applied equally to the left and right channels and are adjustable from 0% to 100%. This maps to a range of -12dB to +12dB.

You can use the sliders to adjust the values up and down, or you can enter values directly. If you type an out of range value, this will set the level to 0% or 100%.

Click the **Reset** button to set the bass or treble to 50%. This signifies a flat level corresponding to 0dB.

Use the Balance slider to set the balance between the left and right speakers.

Click the **Center** button to position the slider in the center, indicating an even distribution between the left and right speakers.

Use the Room Volume slider to adjust the overall audio volume level in the room.

The volume is adjustable from 0% (minimum volume) to 100% (maximum volume). Use this feature to set the usable volume range.

You can use the slider to adjust the volume up and down, or you can enter a value directly. If you type an out of range value, this will set the volume to 0% or 100%.

You can click the Mute button to mute the room audio.

#### Video Test Pattern

The "Video Test Pattern" window allows you to analyze and maintain the quality of the video signal.

Use the video test pattern as a reference while you adjust the video using the peaking control potentiometer (located on the IM receiver).

Specifically, take note of the right side of the black box in the video test pattern: any white or black streaking will be noticeable there. The adjustment instructions are displayed on the test pattern image.

# **Problem Solving**

## Troubleshooting

The following table provides corrective action for possible trouble situations. If further assistance is required, please contact a Crestron customer service representative.

TROUBLE	POSSIBLE CAUSE(S)	CORRECTIVE ACTION
PWR LED does not illuminate.	Not receiving power.	Verify that the power supply cable and power supply connection to the AC are properly attached.
	Incorrect power supply.	Only use a Crestron power supply.
No video output displayed.	Incorrect cable connection.	Verify display device connection.
		Verify iMedia output cable connection is secure.
Video from source is garbled or no output.	Incorrect cable	Verify iMedia cable connections.
	connections.	Verify maximum iMedia cable length.
	Peak adjustment incorrect.	Readjust peak control.
Not controlling the display device.	Incorrect wiring.	Check wiring and connectors between the IM-RX1/3 and the display device.

## **Further Inquiries**

If you cannot locate specific information or have questions after reviewing this guide, please take advantage of Crestron's award winning customer service team by calling the Crestron corporate headquarters at 1-888-CRESTRON [1-888-273-7876]. For assistance in your local time zone, refer to the Crestron website (www.crestron.com) for a listing of Crestron worldwide offices.

You can also log onto the online help section of the Crestron website to ask questions about Crestron products. First-time users will need to establish a user account to fully benefit from all available features.

## **Future Updates**

As Crestron improves functions, adds new features, and extends the capabilities of the IM-RX1 or IM-RX3, additional information may be made available as manual updates. These updates are solely electronic and serve as intermediary supplements prior to the release of a complete technical documentation revision.

Check the Crestron website periodically for manual update availability and its relevance. Updates are identified as an "Addendum" in the Download column.

# **Return and Warranty Policies**

## Merchandise Returns / Repair Service

- 1. No merchandise may be returned for credit, exchange, or service without prior authorization from CRESTRON. To obtain warranty service for CRESTRON products, contact the factory and request an RMA (Return Merchandise Authorization) number. Enclose a note specifying the nature of the problem, name and phone number of contact person, RMA number, and return address.
- 2. Products may be returned for credit, exchange, or service with a CRESTRON Return Merchandise Authorization (RMA) number. Authorized returns must be shipped freight prepaid to CRESTRON, 6 Volvo Drive, Rockleigh, N.J. 07647, or its authorized subsidiaries, with RMA number clearly marked on the outside of all cartons. Shipments arriving freight collect or without an RMA number shall be subject to refusal. CRESTRON reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to charge a 15% restocking fee, plus shipping costs, on any products returned with an RMA.
- 3. Return freight charges following repair of items under warranty shall be paid by CRESTRON, shipping by standard ground carrier. In the event repairs are found to be non-warranty, return freight costs shall be paid by the purchaser.

## **CRESTRON Limited Warranty**

CRESTRON ELECTRONICS, Inc. warrants its products to be free from manufacturing defects in materials and workmanship under normal use for a period of three (3) years from the date of purchase from CRESTRON, with the following exceptions: disk drives and any other moving or rotating mechanical parts, pan/tilt heads and power supplies are covered for a period of one (1) year; touchscreen display and overlay components are covered for 90 days; batteries and incandescent lamps are not covered.

This warranty extends to products purchased directly from CRESTRON or an authorized CRESTRON dealer. Purchasers should inquire of the dealer regarding the nature and extent of the dealer's warranty, if any.

CRESTRON shall not be liable to honor the terms of this warranty if the product has been used in any application other than that for which it was intended, or if it has been subjected to misuse, accidental damage, modification, or improper installation procedures. Furthermore, this warranty does not cover any product that has had the serial number altered, defaced, or removed.

This warranty shall be the sole and exclusive remedy to the original purchaser. In no event shall CRESTRON be liable for incidental or consequential damages of any kind (property or economic damages inclusive) arising from the sale or use of this equipment. CRESTRON is not liable for any claim made by a third party or made by the purchaser for a third party.

CRESTRON shall, at its option, repair or replace any product found defective, without charge for parts or labor. Repaired or replaced equipment and parts supplied under this warranty shall be covered only by the unexpired portion of the warranty.

Except as expressly set forth in this warranty, CRESTRON makes no other warranties, expressed or implied, nor authorizes any other party to offer any warranty, including any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. Any implied warranties that may be imposed by law are limited to the terms of this limited warranty. This warranty statement supercedes all previous warranties.

#### **Trademark Information**

All brand names, product names, and trademarks are the sole property of their respective owners. Windows is a registered trademark of Microsoft Corporation. Windows95/98/Me/XP and WindowsNT/2000 are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.



Crestron Electronics, Inc. 15 Volvo Drive Rockleigh, NJ 07647 Tel: 888.CRESTRON Fax: 201.767.7576 www.crestron.com